No. 325784

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIANE CHRISTIAN and CASEY CHRISTIAN, Appellants,

ν.

ANTOINE TOHMEH, M.D. and MIRNA TOHMEH; and ORTHOPAEDIC SPECIALTY CLINIC OF SPOKANE, et al., Respondents.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED APPEAL BRIEF

Michael J. Riccelli, WSBA #7492 Attorney for Appellant 400 South Jefferson St., #112 Spokane, WA 99204 (509) 323-1120

I. INTRODUCTION

This matter consists of: 1) a medical negligence\loss of chance claim arising from orthopedic surgeon Dr. Antoine Tohmeh's post surgical/hospital in-patient care and treatment of his patient, Diane Christian; and 2) an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim due to Tohmeh's acts, omissions, and misrepresentations in consultation, communication, diagnosis, and treatment of the Ms. Christian's new, post surgical symptoms and conditions.

The Christians allege that Dr. Tohmeh, breached the applicable standard of care in failing to act on new neurological deficits which began to be symptomatic almost immediately after surgery. These symptoms were progressive during Ms. Christian's 4 days of post surgical hospitalization, leaving Ms. Christian with permanent severe neurological injury and deficits. These include, but are not limited to: loss of natural ability to urinate and defecate (bladder and stool retention); lower extremity pain, tingling, and numbness and weakness (primarily left leg and foot); perianal (saddle area) numbness/loss of sensation; and vaginal numbness/loss of sensation. The Christians' expert medical testimony addresses a the degree and nature of physical injury, and states that Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care in failing to timely and appropriately act on the new symptoms, causing Diane Christian a 40 percent loss of chance of a better outcome.

The record also provides evidence which Appellants believe firmly supports a claim of an intentional infliction of emotional distress against Dr. Tohmeh. Further, that this evidence allows for a reasonable conclusion that Dr. Tohmeh: attempted to dissuade the Christians from believing Mrs. Christian had neurological symptoms or deficits; attempted to dissuade Mrs. Christian from seeking appropriate and indicated medical diagnosis, care, and treatment; misrepresented the medical record contents, conclusions, and findings of other medical providers Dr. Tohmeh referred Ms. Christian to; attempted to cause the Christians to believe Ms. Christian's neurological symptoms and deficits were psychosomatic in nature, and due to obesity, lethargy, and lack of effort at rehabilitation; verbally abused and berated Ms. Christian in the presence of Mr. Christian; and made an effort to dissuade Mrs. Christian's subsequent medical provider, a physiatrist, from diagnosis and treatment of Ms. Christian's surgery related neurological deficits and injuries.

Procedurally, Dr. Tohmeh moved the trial court for a partial summary judgment on the loss of chance claim. However, the trial court, sua sponte, granted complete summary judgment. Thereafter, the trial denied the Christians' Motion for Reconsideration, resulting in this appeal.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

No. 1

The trial court erred in dismissing the Christian's' claims.

No. 2

The trial court erred in denying the Christian's Motion for Reconsideration.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- (1) Whether competent medical testimony that states Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care in treatment of Ms Christian, which caused her at least a 40% loss of chance of a better outcome, is sufficient (if not necessary) to create issues of fact for a loss of chance claim to survive summary judgment.
- (2) Whether claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress fall within the ambit of the medical malpractice statute (RCW 7.70, et seq);
- (3) Whether there is sufficient admissible evidence contained in the record to create issues of fact for claims of intentional infliction of emotional distress to survive summary judgment.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. CAUSE OF ACTION/PROCEDURE BELOW.

This matter arises from and relates to claims of injury and damages

resulting from a low back spinal column surgery performed on plaintiff Diane Christian by Antoine Tohmeh, M.D. at Holy Family Hospital in Spokane, on December 5, 2005. (CP 5). Plaintiff Diane Christian is claiming severe and permanent neurological injuries and other special and general damages and Plaintiff Casey Christian is claiming loss of consortium. (CP 7)

Further, the Christians claim the intentional infliction of emotional distress caused by Dr. Tohmeh. (CP 6). More specifically, it is claimed that Dr. Tohmeh's post surgical care: (1) breached the applicable standard of care; and (2) constituted intentional infliction of emotional distress. (CP 6-7).

As claimed in a preoperative assessment, Diane Christian, age 49 at surgery, had a history of bilateral leg pain and numbness, primarily of the anterior thighs and difficulty standing for long periods, with climbing stairs.

No associated bowel or bladder disturbances or dysfunctions were noted.

(CP 99 and CP 103). During the surgery, the spinal cord dura (enclosure) was punctured [and repaired by stitching]. (CP 184).

Pertinent hospital nursing notes indicate the following (CP 105-115).

12/5/05

10:07 a.m. Surgical procedure, with: partial L-2, complete L-3, complete L-4, and partial L-5 laminectomies; bilateral partial fasciectomies and foraminotomies of L-2, L-3 and L-4 nerve roots. (CP 101).

<u>12/6/05</u>

8:00 a.m. New (non-historic) symptom: "Slight tingling in toes, bilaterally." (CP 106).

12/7/05

1:00 a.m. New (non-historic) symptom: "Strong tingling to feet bilaterally." (CP 107).

8:00 a.m. New (non-historic) symptom: Additional *complaints of* severe pain in thighs and buttocks bilaterally (rated at "7") due to muscle spasms. Administered a laxative due to lack of bowel movement for three days. (CP 107).

10:00 a.m. New (non-historic) symptoms: In addition to tingling feet, cool sensation reported bilaterally to thighs, down anterior portion of legs. A nurse entered a specific note in the chart that Dr. Tohmeh was there and was aware of patient's complaints. (*Id.*)

10:55 a.m. Physical therapy note – "complaint of tingling, numb feet." (CP 114)

1:45 p.m. Physical therapy: tingling, numbness. (Id.)

4:00 p.m. 15 mg morphine administered.

4:30 p.m. Patient reports feet feel slightly numb, but getting better. However, Diane also requested that Foley Catheter be left in until the next day. (CP 108)

9:40 p.m. Feet remained somewhat numb, morphine continued. (*Id.*)

12/8/05

12:53 a.m. Bowel tones noted. Patient complained of bilateral toe numbness. "Doctor aware of complaints." (Id.)

6:15 a.m. Patient wants urinary catheter to remain (catheter apparently removed). (*Id.*)

10:05 a.m. Physical therapy – "Feet are still tingling." (CP 114).

3:00 p.m. New (non-historic) symptom: Vaginal and perineal (saddle area) numbness, unable to void, at this time. (CP 108).

3:00 p.m. Bladder scan reveals 400 cc. Nurse will monitor. (CP 109).

4:05 p.m. New (non-historic) symptom: Physical therapy – Loss of sensation in perineum, and unable to urinate. (CP 114).

4:40 p.m. Patient unsuccessful at attempts at voiding bladder and bowel movement. Patient complains of numbness to perineal area. (CP 109).

4:50 p.m. Bladder scan reports 545 ml retained. Reported to Dr. Tohmeh and PAC. Orders to re-catheterize if next attempt at voiding is unsuccessful, and to remove catheter following a.m. (*Id.*)

5:15 p.m. Patient voids 260 ml. Nurses continue to observe bladder function. (*Id.*)

12/9/05

12:00 A.M. (Midnight) Continued complaints of numbness to vaginal

area, tingling to ankles and feet, bilaterally. (Id.)

8:30 a.m. Continued complaints of numbness to both feet and vaginal area. (*Id.*)

9:30 a.m. Dr. Tohmeh visits and advises patient that in-home nursing will be necessary to monitor urinary output and writes prescription for same. (*Id.*)

10:20 a.m. Physical therapy – feet numb. (CP 115).

11:50 a.m. Patient voids approximately 100 ml from bladder, retaining approximately 400 ml. (CP 109).

11:52 a.m. Dr. Tohmeh authorizes patient release to home with orders for a Foley catheter and home nursing. (CP 110).

12:00 p.m. Catheter reinserted, and approximately additional 500 ml voided. (Id.)

12:30 p.m. Patient discharged to home care with catheter. (Id.)

1/5/06

Hospital Discharge Summary - PAC Schindele, Dr. Tohmeh - reference to difficulty emptying bladder and patient home with catheter. No mention of neurogenic symptoms. (Note: surgery 12/5/05, dictated 1/5/06 digitally authenticated by Dr. Tohmeh 2/2/06.) (CP 103-104).

B. POST-HOSPITALIZATION CARE AND TREATMENT

Dr. Tohmeh had Ms. Christian's bladder concerns assessed by

Spokane Urologist Dr. Olefin, during December 2005 and early January 2006. *Dr. Olefin diagnosed a neurogenic bladder*, but found that certain drugs such as "flomax" used to assist patients in voiding their bladders helped with Ms. Christian's bladder retention issues. (CP 196).

The first sentence of Dr. Oefelein's clinical notes of 1/4/2006, a copy of which was sent to Dr. Tohmeh states:

"Follow up *neurogenic bladder with urinary retention* status post multilevel lumbar laminectomy 12/05/05."

(CP 197).

According to the online Medical Dictionary, "MedlinePlus," which is a service of the U.S. National Library of Medicine, and the National Institutes of Health, a neurogenic bladder is defined as follows:

Neurogenic bladder

"Neurogenic bladder is a problem in which a person lacks bladder control due to a brain, spinal cord, or nerve condition."

Causes

"Several muscles and nerves must work together for your bladder to hold urine until you are ready to empty it. Nerve messages go back and forth between the brain and the muscles that control bladder emptying. If these nerves are damaged by illness or injury, the muscles may not be able to tighten or relax at the right time.

Disorders of the central nervous system commonly cause neurogenic bladder. These can include:

• • •

Spinal cord injury

Damage or disorders of the nerves that supply the bladder can also cause this condition. These can include:

Nerve damage (neuropathy)

...,

MedlinePlus, *Neurogenic Bladder*, found at: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/000754.htm

According to its Internet Website, The Urology Care Foundation is the official foundation of the American Urological Association. The Foundation provides support and a worldwide arena for new developments and progress in urologic care. The Foundation discusses neurogenic bladder, in part, as follows:

"WHAT GOES WRONG?

Several muscles and nerves must work together for your bladder to hold urine until you are ready to empty it. Nerve messages go back and forth between the brain and the muscles that control bladder emptying. *If these nerves are damaged* by illness or injury, the muscles may not be able to tighten or relax at the right time. In people with neurogenic bladder, the nerves and muscles don't work together well. *The bladder may not fill or empty in the right way.*"

(Bold + Italicized emphasis added), Urology Care Foundation, the official foundation of the American Urological Association, Neurogenic Bladder /When Nerve Damage Causes Bladder Problems, found at:

http://www.urologyhealth.org/ media/ pdf/BH NeurogenicBladde r FactSheet 2014.pdf

The hospital discharge summary was authored by Dr. Tohmeh and

his PAC, Schindle, on January 5, 2006, fully one month after the surgery. (CP 103-104). In that discharge note, it was stated only that Ms. Christian was sent home with some bowel and bladder difficulty, with a catheter inserted. (Id.)

On March 2, 2006, Dr. Tohmeh wrote a letter to Ms. Christian addressing the fact that Ms. Christian had discussed several concerns with Dr. Tohmeh's assistant. (CP 116). As is thoroughly discussed in Ms. Christian's return letter to Dr. Tohmeh dated March 16, 2006, Ms. Christian had been doing research on line and found that her symptoms coincided with a constellation of neurological deficits known in the medical community as Cauda Equina Syndrome. (CP 117-120). Ms. Christian reported issues with sexual function, also. (*Id.*) The type of information that was readily available on the Internet from authoritative sources to lay persons or professionals, alike, are exemplified by the following:

Symptoms of Cauda Equina Syndrome

It may be hard to diagnose cauda equina syndrome. Symptoms vary and may come on slowly. They also mimic other conditions. If you have any of these symptoms, see your doctor right away:

• •

- *Pain, numbness, or weakness in one or both legs* that causes you to stumble or have trouble getting up from a chair.
- Loss of or altered sensations in your legs, buttocks, inner thighs, backs of your legs, or feet that is severe or gets worse and worse.

You may experience this as trouble feeling anything in the areas of your body that would sit in a saddle (called saddle anesthesia).

- Recent problem with bladder or bowel function, such as trouble eliminating urine or waste (retention) or trouble holding it (incontinence).
- Sexual dysfunction that has come on suddenly.

WebMD, an advertising funded commercial Internet enterprise providing medical information and articles from board certified M.D.'s and M.D. editorial staff, *Cauda Equina Syndrome Overview*, *found at*: http://www.webmd.com/back-pain/guide/cauda-equina-syndrome-overview

However, in his March 2, 2006 letter, Dr. Tohmeh stated: (1) that an EMG done by Dr. Lamb, at Dr. Tohmeh's request, tested the <u>L4, L5, S1 and S2 nerve roots</u> and that it was non-revealing and does not explain her current symptoms of the saddle area numbness and vaginal area numbness; and (2) that Dr. Olefin's urological consult concluded that she had a normal bladder function. (CP 116). In that same letter, Dr. Tohmeh denies any inference of any knowledge as to the cause of her symptoms. (Id.) This letter in context with the preceding various visits between the Christians and Dr. Tohmeh and Ms. Christian's simple lay research on the internet caused Ms. Christian to write her March 16, 2006 letter:

"... I do not even know where (sic) to begin. You mentioned my frustration in your letter ... my emotions and [sic] have run the gamut and fluctuate depending on the degree of symptoms I may be experiencing on a particular day. Some days are better than others. I have felt ignored and granted a [sic] little validation. ... I am

disappointed in the outcome and the process to try to get answers and correct treatment after the fact. Prior to surgery, I had limited mobility, thigh weakness and pain. Now I still have limited mobility due to the left leg and foot numbness, bowel/bladder issues, and saddle numbness. I can only stand or walk for limited amounts of time. It feels as if there is a turnicate [sic] around my left ankle that tightens the longer I am on that foot. It appears I traded one issue for four. I have lost more than I gained in terms of quality of life ... what I have wanted was a chance for healing with proper treatment, which requires acknowledgment of the problems and a proper diagnosis to pursue correct treatment. Three months seems unreasonable with no resolution in terms of diagnosis or treatment. I seriously believe I possibly have a spinal injury that I mentioned previous. I do not know where or how to proceed. My frustration is way up there. I can understand why patients drop off the radar dealing with these types of experiences. You lose the fight emotionally, especially when you are trying to recover physically. I find it almost impossible to ignore or forget about my symptoms. I would if I could, and believe me, that would be much more convenient for us all, especially for me since I am living with this.

(CP 117-120).

Ms. Christian also addresses Dr. Tohmeh "yelling" at her and her husband, and his presumption there is nothing neurologically wrong with her, leaving the converse (psychosomatic) as the inference of choice. (CP 182-183, CP 185-187).

Ms. Christian was then referred to Physiatrist Vivian Moise, M.D., by her primary care physician. Dr. Moise, Spinal Cord Program Medical Director of Spokane's St. Luke's Rehabilitation Institute, diagnosed Diane as suffering from post surgical Cauda Equina Syndrome. The Diagnosis was based upon objective and subjective symptoms, clinical observations, and

testing. (CP 121-124) This included an abnormal test finding from the Continence Center at Providence Sacred Heart Medical Center, which, according to Dr. Moise, showed definitive objective findings of S3, S4 and S5 nerve root impairment. (CP 126). Recall that the EMG test requested by Dr. Tohmeh and performed by Dr. Lamb did not test the S3, S4 and S5 nerve roots. (CP 116)

Dr. Moise testified in her discovery deposition, recalling her interaction with Dr. Tohmeh after she diagnosed Diane with cauda equine syndrome, and that Dr. Tohmeh telephoned her. Her testimony follows:

- "Q. (BY MR. RICCELLI) Can you give us, in a narrative fashion, the interaction you have had with Dr. Tohmeh on this matter, on this case?
- A. Yes. We've talked just one time, when I first saw Ms. Christian, I had a copy of my evaluation, sent to her back in 2006, and then I got a phone call from Dr. Tohmeh.
- Q. I just want to make sure for the record, had you talked to Dr. Tohmeh about Ms. Christian prior to your written evaluation?
- A. No.
- Q. All right.
- A. Dr. Tohmeh was upset and angry and objected strongly to me saying I thought that it sounded like she had a caudaequina-type of a problem. He indicated that he thought this patient had some significant emotional or psychologic issues, and it made her history less valid to him. My interpretation was, I don't know that he ever used these words, but that, you know, psychosomatic kind of problems, might have been all psychosomatic. And then he also talked

to me about Dr. McNevin's test proving in his mind that there was nothing wrong with the cauda equina nerves. That's what I recall of that discussion.

Q. Do you have an impression as to whether Dr. Tohmeh was suggesting you change your opinion?

MR. KING: Objection, speculation.

- Q. (BY MR. RICCELLI) Based on your interaction with medical professionals on consultations on prior claims, do you have an impression?
- A. Seemed to be trying very hard to convince me there was no nerve damage.
- Q. Okay. And how often in your practice do you have an encounter like that with another treating physician when you've made your diagnosis?
- A. Only once in the last 27 besides this one time.
- Q. That's with literally thousands of patients, right?
- A. Yes."

(CP 130)

C. EXPERT MEDICAL TESTIMONY

STANLEY BIGOS, M.D.

Expert for the Christians, Stanley Bigos, M.D, is an orthopedic surgeon formerly with the University of Washington School of Medicine faculty, and now residing in the Puget Sound area and in San Diego, California. (CP 140). Dr. Bigos testified, more probably than not, in his June 24, 2013 deposition that: *Ms. Christian suffered permanent physical*

injury resulting from the surgery performed by Dr. Tohmeh; Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care in post-surgical treatment of Ms. Christian; and that this breach was causal of at least a 40% loss of chance or opportunity for a better outcome for Ms. Christian. (CP 135-136).

Further, Dr. Bigos' declaration in this matter states, in part:

"

2. Unless otherwise stated, all observations, opinions, or conclusions herein are made with reasonable medical certainty, based upon my education, training, and background and experience that includes training medical students, residents and spine fellows, and on a more probable than not basis.

. . .

- 4. With respect to my deposition taken on June 24,2013, and the transcription of it, I believe the testimony I gave in response to Mr. Riccelli's questions beginning at page 80, line 7 through page 82, line 25, constitutes testimony by me that it was my opinion that Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care of a physician and surgeon in the State of Washington at the time of his post-surgical treatment of Ms. Christian in December of 2005. Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care by failing to explicitly acknowledge, explicitly discern, and act promptly to investigate and attempt to reverse or minimize new neurological symptoms Ms. Christian began to complain of and/or identify beginning December 5, 2005 post surgery, and thereafter, while hospitalized at Holy Family Hospital in Spokane, Washington. If for whatever reason it is not clear from the transcription of my testimony of June 24, 2013, then I confirm that the foregoing statement of breach of the applicable standard of care by Dr. Tohmeh contained in this declaration was then, is now, and remains as my opinion.
- 5. I believe that my deposition testimony on June 23, 2013, as transcribed, correctly represented my opinions regarding the fact that Dr. Tohmeh breached the applicable standard of care as to

Ms. Christian in December of 2005, as he failed to timely and adequately investigate, assess and act on new neurological symptoms which arose from and relate to the December 5, 2005 surgery performed on Ms. Christian by Dr. Tohmeh. According to available literature, Dr. Tohmeh's breach of the applicable standard of care did not afford Ms. Christian what has long been considered a 40 percent chance of a better recovery or outcome than she has ultimately experienced. These new symptoms progressively appeared and worsened during the time of her post-surgical hospitalization, such as: bladder and bowel retention; perianal and vaginal numbness and resulting sexual dysfunction; and left sided lower extremity and foot paresthesia (numbness); and weakness. Concerns about these symptoms have been confirmed by multiple clinicians.

6. My deposition testimony was based upon my general knowledge of the literature as of that time, and coupled with the experience I had with similar situations during my practice. I understand there may be concern about the meaning of my testimony as contained on pages 83 and 84 of my deposition, but I believe careful reading of the transcript should dispel any confusion. I believe I set out the medical profession's understanding of the literature, and basic medical knowledge of human anatomy and physiology, collectively upon which physicians routinely rely to guide their daily practice. This results in an approximate 40 percent likelihood or probability of a better outcome. It was this 40 percent chance of improvement and related urgency that was the basis for requiring Cauda Equina symptoms to be a "Red Flag" emergency, to be explicitly ruled out, before returning Ms. Christian to ordinary postsurgical care for back problems. This is, according to AHCPR Guide #14, comprised of the systematic review of the literature with 23 national consultants and 7 international experts from 19 different disciplines. This follows on the next page. Note the symptoms referenced under Cauda Equina.

"Clinical Practice Guideline Number 14

Acute Low Back Problems in Adults

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services \ Public Health Service Agency for Health Care Policy and Research

Published December 4, 1994

"RED FLAGS"					
Fracture	Tumor/Infection	Cauda Equina Syndrome			
Major trauma Minor trauma in elderly or potentially osteopenic	Age: Over age 50 Under age 20 Constitutional symptoms: fever, chills, Unexplained weight loss History of: Urinary tract infection IV drug abuse Immune suppression pain: worse supine worse at night	Saddle Anesthesia Recent bladder dysfunction: Retention, frequency, Overflow Severe or progressive lower extremity neurologic deficit			
		PE: Unexpected anal sphincter laxity Peri-anal/perineal sensory loss Major motor weakness: Quadriceps or drop foot			

(emphasis added)

I have found no more recent data that would alter those recommendations since. I found no record of Dr. Tohmeh to justify not considering Cauda Equina Syndrome in his post operative records on Ms. Christian with new neurological complaints and symptoms. I found no justification for not repeating spinal MRI; and, explicitly alerting others about the potential progressive and persistence nature of new neurological symptoms, to aid him in considering taking Ms. Christian to surgery, to explore potential causes of the new symptoms."

(CP 236-241).

RICHARD E. SEROUSSI, M.D.

The Christian's physical medicine expert, Richard E. Seroussi, M.D is a Seattle based physiatrist. (CP 149). Dr. Seroussi testified in his June 26,

2013, deposition that: Ms. Christian suffered permanent physical injury resulting from the surgery performed by Dr. Tohmeh and Dr. Tohmeh breached the standard of care in post-surgical treatment of Ms. Christian. (CP 82, CP 158-159).

Further, Dr. Seroussi reported:

"ASSESSMENT (On a more probable than not basis related to the surgery of 12/5/05, unless otherwise stated.)

- 1. Cauda equina syndrome, with left worse than right-sided neurological findings.
- 2. Multilevel bilateral lumbar radiculopathy, with the following:
- a. Pre-existing clinical indication for the surgery of 12/5/05, with right worse than left sided neurologic findings preoperatively.
- b. Significant worsening due to complications from the surgery of 12/5/05, with new onset of left worse than right sided neurologic findings postoperatively.
- c. Lower thoracic spinal stenosis, gradually worsening over several years, resulting in decompressive laminectomy at the T10-T12 levels by John Demakas, MD on 8/29/12, without complication, overall without change in neurologic status by history.
- 3. Neurogenic bladder dysfunction, with probable lower motor neuron dysfunction, secondary to #1.
- 4. Neurogenic bowel dysfunction, with probable lower motor neuron dysfunction, secondary to #1.
- 5. Mobility deficits, impaired balance, and history of falling secondary to #1.

- 6. Impaired activities of daily living secondary to #1.
- 7. Probable reactive and appropriate dysphoria, secondary to chronic pain and loss of function.
- 8. Decreased vocational potential and community participation, with partial disability, secondary to the above.
- 9. Pre-existing history of obesity, significantly worsened due to complications from the surgery of 12/5/05, likely partly due to loss of mobility and community participation."

(CP 158-159)

ROD STROM, P.T.

The Christians' physical capacities expert, Rod Strom, is a Spokane based physical therapist who performed a physical capacities examination on Ms. Christian which report details that Ms. Christian has limited physical capacities and abilities to maintain her activities of daily living. (CP 178-179).

ROBERT H. PEARLMAN, M.D.

The Christian's medical ethics expert, Robert H. Pearlman, M.D. is a physician licensed to practice in Washington. (CP 243, para 1). He is a professor at the University of Washington School of Medicine, Division of Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine. He is also the Chief of Ethics Evaluation for the National Center for Ethics in Healthcare. (*Id.*) The National Center for Ethics in Healthcare has been established by the U.S.

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