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

II. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment rulings are reviewed *de novo. Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 675, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001). An appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, considering all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn. App. 110, 117, 951 p.2d 321 (1998). Summary judgment is appropriate if the record before the court shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Ruff v. County of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

B. <u>Applicable Law for Summary Judgment in Medical</u> <u>Malpractice Cases</u>

All claims alleging injury resulting from a failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care are controlled by RCW 7.70 et. seq. Summary judgment in medical malpractice cases may be brought in

partial summary judgment. However, based on the evidence submitted by the parties, it was appropriate for the court to treat the motion as such and dismiss all of plaintiffs' claims. See, Health Ins. Pool v. Health Care Authority, 129 Wn.2d 504, 507, 919 P.2d 62 (1996).

P.2d 689 (1993). In Guile, the Court of Appeals noted:

A defendant can move for summary judgment in one of two ways. First, the defendant can set out its version of the facts and allege that there is no genuine issue as to the facts as set out. Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp & Med. Cntr., 110 Wn.2d 912, 916, 757 P.2d 507 (1988). Alternatively, a party moving for summary judgment can meet its burden by pointing out to the trial court that the non-moving party lack sufficient evidence to support its case. Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 91 L.Ed.2d 265, 106 S.Ct. 2548 (1986)). In this latter situation, the moving party is not required to support its summary judgment motion with affidavits. Young, at 226. However, the moving party must identify those portions of the record, together with the affidavits, if any, which he or she believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. White v. Kent Med. Cntr., Inc., P.S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 170, 810 P.2d 4 (1991) (citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. at 323; Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence in Wash., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 127, 132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989).

Guile at 21-22.

The Court further stated as to the standard for the motions for

summary judgment as follows at page 25:

In a medical malpractice case, expert testimony is generally required to establish the standard of care and to prove causation. *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983). Thus, a defendant moving for summary judgment can meet its initial burden by showing that the plaintiff lacks competent expert testimony. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 226-27, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The burden then shifts to the plaintiff to produce an affidavit from

a qualified expert witness that alleges specific facts establishing a cause of action. *Young* at 226-27.

Guile at 25.

CR 56 requires that the judgment shall be "rendered forthwith" if the supporting materials and affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to pertinent material fact.

C. <u>Based On The Evidence Presented To The Trial Court, No</u> <u>Reasonable Person Could Conclude That Ms. Christian Had</u> <u>CES And That Dr. Tohmeh Thus Violated The Standard Of</u> <u>Care By Not Diagnosing The Condition.</u>

On summary judgment, a "genuine issue" of material fact is one upon which reasonable people may disagree. *Youker v. Douglas County*, 178 Wn. App. 793, 796, 327 P.3d 1243 (2014). In the instant case, based on the evidence presented to the trial court, no reasonable person could conclude that Ms. Christian had CES and that Dr. Tohmeh violated the standard of care by not diagnosing the condition.

Ms. Christian's own expert, Dr. Bigos, testified that Dr. Tohmeh's surgery was carried out properly. No expert witness testified on behalf of Ms. Christian that the alleged CES was caused by postoperative hematoma, by a dural graft, or by anything that Dr. Tohmeh did during the surgery. After first stating he had a "suspicion" Ms. Christian had CES, Dr. Bigos eventually testified that, in his opinion, Ms. Christian did have the condition. But Ms. Christian did not exhibit any of the cardinal signs or symptoms of CES while she was in the hospital. Post-discharge, none of the specialists to whom Dr. Tohmeh referred Ms. Christian diagnosed CES. Because, on this record, no reasonable person could conclude that Ms. Christian had CES and that Dr. Tohmeh thus violated the standard of care by failing to diagnose it. It was appropriate for the court to grant summary judgment on standard of care.

D. Dr. Bigos' Testimony On Loss Of Chance Was Insufficient To Create A Material Issue Of Fact On Proximate Cause and Damages.

Loss of chance is recognized as an actionable injury in a medical malpractice case. See, *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011); *Herskovits v. Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound*, 99 Wn.2d 609, 664 P.2d 474 (1983); *Estate of Durmaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, PLLC*, 177 Wn. App. 828, 313 P.3d 431 (2013); *Rash v. Providence Health & Services*, 183 Wn. App. 612, 334 P.3d 1154 (2014). The cause of action exists even where the ultimate harm is something short of death. *Mohr, supra*; see also, *Shellenbarger v. Brigman*, 101 Wn. App. 339, 3 P.2d 211 (2000); *Rash*, 183 Wash.App. at 630, 334 P.3d 431 ("Loss of chance claims can be divided into two categories: lost chance of survival and lost chance of a better outcome").

The calculation of a loss of chance for a better outcome must be based on expert testimony, which in turn is "based on significant practical experience and 'on data obtained and analyzed scientifically ... as part of the repertoire of diagnosis and treatment, as applied to the specific facts of the plaintiff's case." *Mohr*, at 857-58, *quoting*, *Matsuyama v. Birnbaum*, 452 Mass. 1, 18, 890 NE2d 819 (2008).

In a loss of chance case, after the specific loss of chance is identified by expert testimony, the jury, in calculating damages, applies the identified percentage of lost chance to the damages that would have been sustained by the plaintiff (or decedent) had the negligence not occurred and the plaintiff is awarded that percentage of plaintiff's "total" damages. *See*, *Herskovits* at 635; *Mohr* at 858.

In the instant case, Ms. Christian's expert, Dr. Bigos, testified that, had surgery been performed, Ms. Christian had a 40% chance of a better outcome. However, Dr. Bigos did not specify in any way what the better outcome would have been. To the contrary, he testified it would be pure speculation to say what the "better outcome" might have been. Thus, the jury would have no way of applying the *Herskovitz* and *Mohr* formula to calculate damages. Because Ms. Christian failed to provide any testimony at all as to what the better outcome would have been had surgery been performed, Ms. Christian's loss of chance theory was entirely speculative and conjectural, and summary judgment on proximate cause was appropriate.

E. <u>Ms. Christian's Claims Based Upon The Tort Of Outrage And</u> <u>Intentional Inflection Of Emotional Distress Were Properly</u> <u>Dismissed.</u>

A cause of action for "outrage" exists only where conduct is "so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." *Grimsby v. Samson*, 85 Wash.2d 52, 59, 530 P.2d 291 (1975). Mere insults, indignities, embarrassment, or humiliation will not support a claim of outrage. *Id.* Outrage is the same claim as intentional infliction of emotional distress. *See, Kloepfel v. Bokor*, 149 Wash.2d 192, 194, 66 P.3d 630 (2003). Such a claim may only proceed if "[t]he court determines initially if reasonable minds could differ on whether the conduct was sufficiently extreme to result in liability." *Banks v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 57 Wash.App. 251, 263, 787 P.2d 953 (1990), *citing Phillips v. Hardwick*, 29 Wash.App. 382, 387, 628 P.2d 506 (1981).

Ms. Christian alleged that Dr. Tohmeh acted intentionally or in outrageous fashion by attempting to "obfuscate" or to hide from Ms. Christian

facts and circumstances dealing with the alleged diagnosis of cauda equina syndrome. However, the summary judgment record clearly demonstrated that Dr. Tohmeh listened carefully to Ms. Christian's symptomatic complaints and made consecutive referrals to a board-certified urologist for her urinary complaints, a board certified colorectal surgeon for her bowel complaints and issues, and to a board certified gynecologist for her sexual complaints. The results of the urology and colorectal surgery referrals were provided to Ms. Christian. Ms. Christian refused to follow up on the referral to the gynecologist, Dr. Portal, at least when the record came from Dr. Tohmeh.

Much of Ms. Christian's outrage claim is based on the assumption she had CES. But Dr. Tohmeh did not diagnose CES, nor did any other of the multiple physicians who saw Ms. Christian after Dr. Tohmeh's surgery, until Dr. Moise.

Ms. Christian claimed the following evidence established a *prima facie* outrage claim:

 Dr. Moise testified that during a telephone call with Dr. Tohmeh, he "seemed to be trying very hard to convince me there was no nerve damage." *Moise depo.*, pg. 73, lines 13-17.

- Dr. Tohmeh further indicated to Dr. Moise that he thought Ms. Christian had "some significant emotional or psychologic[al] issues..." *Moise depo.*, pg. 73, lines 1-3.
- Dr. Moise believed Dr. Tohmeh was "angry" and attempted to influence her diagnosis. *Moise depo*.

No one has testified that any of D. Tohmeh's documentation or correspondence violated the standard of care, much less, that it satisfied the high burden of an outrage claim to be "so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." *Grimsby v. Samson*, 85 Wash.2d 52, 59, 530 P.2d 291 (1975). Even insults, embarrassment, or humiliation is insufficient to rise to the level of outrage. *Kloepfel v. Bokor*, 149 Wash.2d 192, 194, 66 P.3d 630 (2003).

None of the foregoing rises to the level of "outside the bounds of all human decency." Because reasonable minds could not differ, summary judgment dismissal of the outrage claim was appropriate.

|||

|||

///

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, Dr. Tohmeh